
CITY OF TONGANOXIE

March 21, 2022
7:00 Regular Meeting

City Council Chambers, 303 Bury Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086
There may be an audio recording of the meeting which will be utilized to prepare the meeting minutes and the 

meeting may be broadcast on the City of Tonganoxie YouTube Channel

Honorable David Frese, Mayor
Council Members

Rocky Himpel              Jacob Dale           Loralee Stevens Chris Donnelly Jennifer McCutchen

Open Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m.

I. Pledge of Allegiance 

II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated March 7, 2022

III. Consent Agenda
a) Review bill payments

IV. Old Business

V. New Business
a) Consider Request for Utilization of City Property at the Tonganoxie Library as part of a Special 

Event Permit Application for a recurring Farmer’s Market event in 2022   

b) Consideration of Funding Request to support the Tonganoxie Days 2022 event

c) Resolution 03-22-01 – Award of Bid and Approval of Contract with Caldwell Tanks, Inc. for the 2022 
Water Tower Project

d) Resolution 03-22-02 - Consider Agreement with Leavenworth County and the Cities of    Lansing, 
Basehor, Leavenworth, and Tonganoxie, Kansas for the Regional Transportation Capital 
Improvement Plan Study

e) City Manager Agenda
1. February 2022 Financial Report

f) City Attorney Agenda

g) Mayor Pro Tem Agenda

h) City Council Agenda

i) Mayor Agenda

VI. Adjourn



Page 1 of 3 

Council Meeting Minutes 
March 7, 2022 

7:00 PM Meeting 
 

I. Pledge of Allegiance  
 Mayor Pro Tem Himpel opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
 Mayor Pro Tem Himpel led the pledge of allegiance.  
 Mr. Himpel, Mr. Dale, Ms. Stevens, Ms. McCutchen and Mr. Donnelly were present.  
 City Manager George Brajkovic, Assistant City Manager Dan Porter, Municipal Court Clerk Lindsay Huntington, Police 

Chief Greg Lawson and Library Director Max Wirestone were present.  City Attorney Rich Cook was present via 
phone. 
 

II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated February 22, 2022 
o Mr. Donnelly made a motion to approve minutes from the regular meeting dated February 22, 2022.  
o Mr. Dale seconded the motion.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
III. Consent Agenda 

a) Review bill payments 
o Ms. McCutchen made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  
o Ms. Stevens seconded the motion.  
o Roll Call Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
IV. Old Business 

 
 

V. New Business 
a) Swearing in of new Police Officer, Nicholas Poje.  
 Mr. Lawson introduced Nick Poje as the newest police officer at the Tonganoxie Police Department. Mr. Lawson 

administered the Police Oath of Office.  
 

b) Ordinance No. 1503: Consider Special Event Permit and Draft Ordinance 1503 Authorizing Alcohol 
Consumption on Public Property for a Wine and Bingo Event at the Tonganoxie Public Library  

 Mr. Porter explained that the public library is planning a Bingo night on April 14th 2022 for up to 36, of age, 
attendees where the sale and consumption of wine will be allowed. City Code Section 33 states an ordinance is 
required to allow the sale and consumption of alcohol on City property. There is also a publication requirement 
before the ordinance will go into effect.   

 Mr. Wirestone stated they are hoping for a full house. 
o Ms. Stevens made a motion to adopt Ordinance 1503 and approve the special event permit and draft ordinance 

that will go for publication authorizing alcohol consumption on public property for the bingo event at the 
Tonganoxie Library. 

o Mr.  Donnelly seconded the motion.  
o Roll Call Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
 

c) Consideration for Funding Requests for Cultural Organizations  
 Mr. Porter stated during the last Council meeting there was a discussion of the four criteria to evaluated the groups 

that approach the City requesting funds. The two remaining groups requesting funding, Tonganoxie Art’s Council 
and Tonganoxie Historical Society have both re-submitted their funding requests using the new criteria. 

 Mr. Porter stated $5,000 has been allocated in the general fund for the 2022 budget. However, that amount will not 
cover the full requested amount as each organization has requested $5,000 individually. 



Page 2 of 3 

 Ms. McCutchen stated her concern is the Art Festival will be held outside of city limits which would not benefit the 
downtown business. 

 Ms. Kelly with the Arts Council explained that Kane Family Farms has offered to help with the festival by paying for 
the bands, providing restrooms and other expenses. It was also a concern that when the street is closed for the 
festival it hurts business for the downtown stores on 4th street. It also provides indoor spaces which would be more 
suitable for the art work that is displayed during the festival if there should be inclement weather.    

 Ms. Stevens commented that 4th street does have several boutiques and other businesses that do benefit from 
festival’s held downtown. 

 Mr. Donnelly commented that the fact that Kane Family Farms is outside City limits should be a consideration. Also, 
to consider that not all events are held downtown.  

 Mr. Dale agreed that using City funds to support an event outside of City limits should be a consideration, but he 
does feel the community should be more than just within the City limits.  

 Ms. Roberts, from the Tonganoxie Historical Society stated that it was her hope their letter has address the new 
guidelines properly and they would like to have a partnership. 

o Mr. Himpel made a motion to fund the Tonganoxie Arts Council and the Historical Society for $5,000 each.  
o Mr. Donnelly seconded the motion with additional discussion. 
 Mr. Donnelly asked for clarification regarding the amount of funds being requested by Tonganoxie Arts Council. The 

summary stated $5,000 but the expected was $2,500. 
 Mr. Dale asked the Historical Society to expand on what the $5,000 would be used for. 
 Ms. Roberts stated that they have removed the proposal for a part time employee. They would like to work with the 

City to add directional signs to bring awareness to the existence of the museum.  
o Roll Call Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
d) Geotech Award of Bid and Approval of Contract with PSI, Inc. for the 2022 Church Street Bridge Project  
 Mr. Brajkovic stated the bridge survey and stormwater analysis has been completed. BG has recommended doing 

Geotech work on site at this time.  
 Mr. Brajkovic stated the two major advantages are getting competitive bidding which can be incorporated into the 

design and knowing in advance the conditions will stream line the bidding process. 
 Mr. Brajkovic stated that BG has received three bids, the lowest of $2,675 from PSI. 
 Mr. Brajkovic also stated that the sidewalk across the bridge has been incorporated into the design on the east side 

of the bridge. 
 Mr. Donnelly questioned if one bore hole would be enough for the estimated weight the bridge will carry. 
 Mr. Brajkovic stated based on the initial analysis of the site no condition issues are expected and given the size of 

the bridge one boring is ample enough and he agreed with the engineer’s recommendations.   
o Mr. Dale made a motion to approve the proposal from PSI for geotechnical exploration associated with the 2022 

Church Street Bridge Project for an amount not to exceed $2,675 and authorization to issue a notice to proceed to 
the company.  

o Mr. Donnelly seconded the motion. 
o Roll Call Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
e) City Manager Agenda  
 Mr. Brajkovic stated Mr. Porter, Mr. Donnelly, Ms. Stevens, Mr. Himpel and himself attended the LCDC annual 

luncheon. The guess speaker was John Hazlin the new President of Hill’s Pet Nutrition.  
 

f) City Attorney Agenda 
 

g) Mayor Pro Tem Agenda 
 

h) City Council Agenda 



Page 3 of 3 

i) Mayor Agenda 
 

VI. Adjourn 
o Mr. Dale made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
o Ms. McCutchen seconded the motion.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried.  
o Meeting adjourned at 7:36 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
Lindsay Huntington, Municipal Court Clerk  

 



Vendor Number Payment Amount Number

59.99 49795
542 49796

74.49 49797
585 49798

37850 49799
1216.99 49800

683.91 49801
208.53 49802
116.86 49803

75 49804
600 49805

177.79 49806
31466.33 49807

1100 49808
93.6 49809

21 49810
600 49811
384 49812

206.42 49813
922 49814
101 49815

408.35 49816
20500 49817

1007 49818
615.5 49819

3952.5 49820
3350.2 49821
121.86 49822

31.46 49823
4734.09 49824

351.39 49825
5000 49826

492.94 49827
1106.11 49828

400.96 49829
4216.9 49830

553.6 49831
39.99 49832

136.41 49833
7417.84 49834
2344.79 49835

10691.91 49836
1728 49837

100 49838
800.79 49839

2285.32 49840
360 49841

1442.95 49842
73.92 49843

625 49844
1720 49845

359.18 49846
299.15 49847
559.86 49848

0857 MIDCONTINENT COMMUNICATIONS 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0500 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0429 MARC 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0857 MIDCONTINENT COMMUNICATIONS 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0391 LAWRENCE JOURNAL WORLD 03/14/2022 Regular 0
1116 LEO on Guard LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0757 KEBRA CHILSON 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0911 KRANZ OF KANSAS CITY 03/14/2022 Regular 0

1239 GODFREY'S INDOOR SHOOTING AND ARCHERY 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0330 KANSAS GAS SERVICE 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0813 FREESTATE ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0205 GALL'S LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0136 DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF KANSAS,IN 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0671 Evergy 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0749 BROADVOICE 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0099 CITY OF LEAVENWORTH 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0046 BAY BRIDGE ADMINISTRATORS, LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0064 BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0661 VISION SERVICE PLAN 03/07/2022 Regular 0
1082 1st Due Emergency Response Solutions, LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0651 USA BLUE BOOK 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0642 USPS 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0614 T-MOBILE 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0876 TONGANOXIE BUSINESS ASSOCIATION 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0555 RICOH USA, INC. 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0579 SECURITY BENEFIT - 457 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0491 OLATHE WINWATER WORKS 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0514 PITNEY BOWES, INC. 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0959 OFFICE OF THE KANSAS STATE TREASURER 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0959 OFFICE OF THE KANSAS STATE TREASURER 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0465 MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0469 MR. TIRE 03/07/2022 Regular 0

1246 Mallory Rae Pino 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0857 MIDCONTINENT COMMUNICATIONS 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0410 LIBERTY NATIONAL 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0414 LINK LITE NETWORKING, INC. 03/07/2022 Regular 0

1271 KENNETH J MOORE 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0802 LED DIRECT 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0496 KANSAS ONE-CALL SYSTEM, INC. 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0979 KANSAS REGISTER, KS SECRETARY OF STATE 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0250 HONEYCREEK DISPOSAL SERVICE 03/07/2022 Regular 0
1121 Jerome Gorman 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0596 GEOFF SONNTAG 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0243 HIMPEL LUMBER & BUILDING SUPPL 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0189 FIRST STATE BANK & TRUST 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0206 GAMBINO'S PIZZA 03/07/2022 Regular 0

1249 EQUIPMENTSHARE.COM, INC 03/07/2022 Regular 0
1263 ESO SOLUTIONS INC 03/07/2022 Regular 0

1126 Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC 03/07/2022 Regular 0
1179 Dreamseats LLC 03/07/2022 Regular 0

0034 AT&T ACCESS TRANSPORT SERVICES 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0923 ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE 03/07/2022 Regular 0

Bank Code: AP Bank-AP Bank
1218 Amazon Capital Services, Inc 03/07/2022 Regular 0
0985 ARMSCOR CARTRIDGE INC 03/07/2022 Regular 0

My Check Report
City of Tonganoxie, KS By Check Number

Date Range: 03/05/2022 - 03/18/2022

Vendor Name Payment Date Payment Type Discount Amount



Vendor Number Payment Amount Number
359.79 49849

18 49850
5000 49851
5000 49852

73 58 0.00 165,290.67

Bank Drafts 0 0 0.00 0.00
EFT's 0 0 0.00 0.00

Manual Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00
Voided Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

Bank Code AP Bank Summary
Payable

Count
Payment

CountPayment Type Discount Payment
Regular Checks 73 58 0.00 165,290.67

1079 Tonganoxie Arts Council 03/14/2022 Regular 0
1292 TONGANOXIE COMMUNITY HISTORICAL SOCIET 03/14/2022 Regular 0

0568 SAMS CLUB 03/14/2022 Regular 0
0628 TODD'S TIRE, LLC 03/14/2022 Regular 0

My Check Report Date Range: 03/05/2022 - 03/18/2022

Vendor Name Payment Date Payment Type Discount Amount



998 Gen Fund-Pooled Cash 3/2022 165290.67
165290.67

73 58 0.00 165,290.67

Fund Summary
Fund Name Period Amount

Bank Drafts 0 0 0.00 0.00

EFT's 0 0 0.00 0.00

Manual Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

Voided Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

All Bank Codes Check Summary
Payable

Count
Payment 

CountPayment Type Discount Payment
Regular Checks 73 58 0.00 165,290.67

My Check Report Date Range: 03/05/2022 - 03/18/2022











 

Office of the City Manager 
AGENDA STATEMENT 

DATE:  March 21, 2022 
TO:  Honorable Mayor David Frese and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Dan Porter, Assistant City Manager  
SUBJECT:  Tonganoxie Days Event Planning Discussion – 2022 Budget 
 
DISCUSSION: 
An Event Planning Group for the 2022 Tonganoxie Days event has convened several times over the past two 
months and advanced preparations for this year’s Tonganoxie Day’s event. The planning group has been 
comprised of members of the City of Tonganoxie Governing Body, City staff, and leaders in the Tonganoxie 
Business Association. The goal of the Tonganoxie Days event is to promote the local community by offering a 
family friendly event with diverse programming and entertainment options. There is a commitment to keeping 
the event free of charge and focused on the City’s historic downtown business corridor.  
 
The attached letter provided by the Tonganoxie Business Association outlines the Tongie Day event schedule 
and the 2022 Budget Estimates. 
 
John Bretthauer with the Tonganoxie Recreation Commission has coordinated a Firework display to be located 
in the County at the Leavenworth County Fairgrounds.  This information is just to make the City Council aware 
of the event and the planned location. 
 
  
The additional steps required for the City to complete approvals associated with the event will include adoption 
of a resolution exempting a designated area at the event from the typical prohibitions against consumption of 
alcoholic beverages on public streets, alleys, and right of way.   
 
More information about the proposed 2022 event budget will be presented at the City Council meeting for 
discussion. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
The City budgeted $10,000 for the support of community events in the 2022 fiscal year. Typically, the event 
contributions have included $7,500 for Tonganoxie Days and approximately $2,500 for the Mayor’s Tree Lighting 
event held in November. Approval of the proposed event budget contribution of $7,500 will not result in a negative 
financial impact for the City.  
 
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
Make a motion to approve the draft 2022 Tonganoxie Days event budget and authorize distribution of $7,500 to 
the Tonganoxie Business Association to support the event costs.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Letter attached from the Tonganoxie Business Association 
 
 
cc:  George Brajkovic, City Manager 

   



 

 

March 18, 2022 

To:   Honorable Mayor David Frese and Members of the City Council 

From:   Monica Gee, President 

Subject:  Tonganoxie Days Event Planning – 2022 Budget 

The planning group for the 2022 Tongie Days event has met and preparations for this year’s event are 
under way.  The group is comprised of members of the City of Tonganoxie Governing Body, City Staff, 
and leaders in the Tonganoxie Business Association.  Our goal is to promote the local community by 
offering a family friendly event with diverse programming and entertainment options.  There is a 
commitment to keeping the event free of charge and focused on the City’s historic downtown business 
corridor.   

The majority of the event preparation for items like vendor solicitation, marketing efforts, preparation 
of a City special event permit, and public safety preparations will take place in May, June, and July. 

This year’s event is scheduled for September 17th, 2022 and the planned duration is from 9am to 10pm.  
The general location of the proposed street closures and event activities will be the 4th Street corridor 
with the boundaries being Shawnee Street to the West and Main Street to the East.  Event staff will 
contact all business owners in advance of the event to advice of the planned programming and street 
closures to local traffic. 

2022 Budget Estimates- 

$0   Children’s Games and Activities 
$0  Craft and Food Vendors 
$500  Car Cruise 
$3500  Musical Performances & Street Dance 
$1000  Public Restroom Rental 
$0  Alcohol Sales  
$2500  Event Advertisements, Marketing, Giveaways, T-Shirts and Interactive Performers 
$7500  Total Event Budget 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
CORE/3516145.0002/173272241.1 

RESOLUTION NO. 03-22-01 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR THE 2022 WATER TOWER 
PROJECT BETWEEN THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS AND 
CALDWELL TANKS, INC.  

WHEREAS, CALDWELL TANKS, INC., a Kentucky corporation ("Contractor"), 
desires to provide construction services for the new water tower at the Tonganoxie 
Business Park (the "Project");  

WHEREAS, the Project would promote the public good, health, and welfare within 
the City of Tonganoxie, Kansas (the "City"); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has determined that it is advisable to enter into 
the Notice of Award to Contractor attached hereto as Exhibit A, and the Construction 
Contract for 2022 Water Tower Project (the "Contract") with Contractor. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS: 

Section 1.  The Governing Body hereby approves the Notice of Award in the form 
attached hereto and the Contract in the form on file with the City Clerk. 

Section 2.  The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute in the name of the City, the 
Notice of Award and the Contract.  The City Manager and other officials and 
representatives of the City are hereby authorized and directed to take such actions and to 
execute any other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable 
to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution.   

Section 3.  This Resolution shall be effective upon adoption by the Governing 
Body. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows.] 



2 
CORE/3516145.0002/173272241.1 

ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, 
KANSAS, AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 21ST DAY OF MARCH, 2022. 
 
 
SEAL 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
        David Frese, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 
 
__________________________________ 
Daniel Porter, Acting City Clerk 

  



3 
CORE/3516145.0002/173272241.1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Notice of Award 
 
 

[Attached.] 



1405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

March 18, 2022

City Council
City of Tonganoxie
526 E 4th Street
Tonganoxie, KS 66086

RE:  City of Tonganoxie, Kansas
2022 Industrial Park 750,000 Gallon Water Tower Improvements
Engineer Project Number: 21-1343L

Dear City Council:

On March 17, 2022, at 3:00 p.m., 4 bids and an Engineer’s Estimate were received and 
read publicly for the above referenced project.  

Bid summaries are shown below, for quick reference, in ascending order based on the 
total bid cost. Detailed bid tabulations are attached.

Bidder Base Bid
Engineer’s Estimate $2,947,402
Gerard Tank & Steel $2,616,000

Caldwell Tanks $3,299,000
Landmark Structures $3,768,000

Phoenix Fabricators & Erectors $3,848,000

Gerard Tank & Steel is the apparent low bidder; however, upon review of the 
qualifications statement, none of the tanks constructed by Gerard Tank & Steel meet 
the requirements of a 750,000-gallon, composite style tank. Since the Contractor does 
not meet the necessary qualifications stated in the project manual, it is recommended 
that the City reject the bid from Gerard Tank & Steel.

BG Consultants, Inc. recommends the City award the Contract and authorize 
construction of the Base Bid to Caldwell Tanks in the amount of $3,299,000 
contingent on review and acceptance from EDA. This recommendation is based upon 
our opinion of the lowest responsive, responsible bidder for the project. 

Sincerely,

Paul Owings, P.E.
Project Manager

Attachments 
Original Bid Documents





























2-23-2022











This document is a MODIFIED version of EJCDC® C-111, Advertisement for Bids for Construction Contract. 
Copyright© 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Modified to include RD edits from RUS Bulletin 1780-26 (6/16/2020). 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Advertisement for Bids
City of Tonganoxie, Kansas

2022 Industrial Park 750,000 Gallon
Water Tower Improvements

General Notice
City of Tonganoxie, Kansas (Owner) is requesting Bids for the construction of the following Project:

2022 Industrial Park 750,000 Gallon
Water Tower Improvements

Bids for the construction of the Project will be received at the Tonganoxie City Hall located at 526 E. 4th Street,
Tonganoxie, Kansas, until Thursday, March 17 at 3:00 PM local time. At that time the Bids received will be 
publicly opened and read.

The Project includes the following Work:

Construction of a 750,000 Gallon Composite Water Tower.

Information and Bidding Documents for the Project can be found at the following designated website:
www.drexeltech.com

Bidding Documents may be downloaded from the designated website. Prospective Bidders are urged to register with 
the designated website as a plan holder, even if Bidding Documents are obtained from a plan room or source other 
than the designated website in either electronic or paper format. The designated website will be updated periodically 
with addenda, lists of registered plan holders, reports, and other information relevant to submitting a Bid for the
Project. All official notifications, addenda, and other Bidding Documents will be offered only through the 
designated website. Neither Owner nor Engineer will be responsible for Bidding Documents, including addenda, if 
any, obtained from sources other than the designated website.

The Issuing Office for the Bidding Documents is:
Drexel Technologies
10840 West 86th Street, Lenexa, KS 66214, 913-371-4430

Prospective Bidders may examine the Bidding Documents at the following:
1. BG Consultants, Inc. www.bgcons.com
2. Drexel Technologies www.drexeltech.com

Bidding Documents may be viewed and ordered online by registering with the Issuing Office at 
www.drexeltech.com.  Following registration, complete sets of Bidding Documents may be downloaded from the 
Issuing Office’s website as “zipped” portable document format (PDF) files. The cost of printed Bidding Documents 
from the Issuing Office will depend on the number and size of the Drawings and Project Manual, applicable taxes, 
and shipping method selected by the prospective Bidder. Cost of Bidding Documents and shipping is non-
refundable.  Contract Documents will be shipped only if the requesting party assumes responsibility for all related 
shipping charges.  Non-refundable corporate, certified, or cashier’s checks shall be made payable to Drexel 
Technologies.  The date that the Bidding Documents are transmitted by the Issuing Office will be considered the 
Bidder’s date of receipt of the Bidding Documents.  Partial sets of the Bidding Documents will not be available from 
the Issuing Office.  Additional assistance is available at distribution@drexeltech.com .

A pre-bid conference for the Project will be held on Thursday, March 10 at 2:00 PM at Tonganoxie City Hall 526 
E. 4th Street, Tonganoxie, Kansas. Attendance at the pre-bid conference is encouraged but not required.

Instructions to Bidders.
For all further requirements regarding bid submittal, qualifications, procedures, and contract award, refer to the 
Instructions to Bidders that are included in the Bidding Documents.



This document is a MODIFIED version of EJCDC® C-111, Advertisement for Bids for Construction Contract. 
Copyright© 2018 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Modified to include RD edits from RUS Bulletin 1780-26 (6/16/2020). 

Page 2 of 2 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to waive any irregularities therein.

David Frese
Mayor
City of Tonganoxie, Kansas
February 25, 2022



1405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

ADDENDUM NO. 1

Project: 2022 Industrial Park 750,000 Water Tower Improvements

City of Tonganoxie, KS

BG Project No. 21-1343L

Date Issued: March 10, 2022

Bid Date & Time: March 17, 2022 @ 3:00 P.M.  

The following items shall amend, or in case of conflict, supersede the contract documents for the 
above referenced project:

Item 1: 

The anticipated award date is March 21, 2022, by regular city council meeting.

Item 2:

Specification 09 97 16 Part 2.02.B.3 and 2.02.B.4 are modified to read as follows:

3. Stripe Coat: Apply one stripe coat of Tnemec Series N140 Pota-Pox Plus to all seams, welds 
and pits. 

4. Finish Coat: Apply one complete coat of Tnemec Series 22 Epoxoline at a dry film thickness of 
20.0-24.0 mils.

Item 3: 

Sheet E100 is replaced with the attached, which corrects plan scales and a graphics issue that cut off 
a note at the top of the sheet.

Item 4:

The pre-bid meeting will be held on Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 2:00 p.m. in person at the Tonganoxie 
city hall as well as online through a Zoom web/telephone meeting. The meeting can be joined through 
the following hyperlink and telephone numbers:

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82172116125

Meeting ID: 821 7211 6125



 

21405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

One tap mobile

+12532158782,,82172116125# US (Tacoma)

+13462487799,,82172116125# US (Houston)

Dial by your location

        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)

        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)

        +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)

        +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)

        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)

        +1 646 558 8656 US (New York)

Meeting ID: 821 7211 6125

Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdmucjbQXv

Sincerely,

BG Consultants, Inc.

 Paul Owings, P.E.

Project Manager



 

31405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

Acknowledge Receipt of Addendum aand include Addendum in proposal:

Contractor’s Signature

                                

Company



2022 INDUSTRIAL PARK
750,000 GALLON WATER TOWER IMPROVEMENTS

Sh
t. 

N
o.

21
-1

34
3L

En
gi

ne
er

:

D
ra

fte
r:

NO.INITIALS DATE REVISIONS

To
ta

l S
ht

s.

Pr
oj

ec
t N

o.

D
at

e:

15JE
M

SA
R

2/
17

/2
02

2

S
C

A
LE

: 1
/4

" 
=

 1
'-0

"
To

w
er

 B
as

e 
P

la
n 

- 
P

o
w

er
2

N
O

R
TH

S
C

A
LE

: 1
/4

" 
=

 1
'-0

"
To

w
er

 B
as

e 
P

la
n 

- 
Li

g
h

tin
g

1

N
O

R
TH

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

To
w

er
 E

le
va

tio
n/

S
ec

tio
n 

- 
E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
3

ELECTRICAL PLANS AND ELEVATION/SECTION

1JEM 3/10/22 ADDENDUM 1

E1
00

9
7

1
4

2

LIC
E

N
S

ED

KA
N

S
A

S

9
7

1
4

2

LIC
E

N
S

ED

KA
N

S
A

S

9
7

1
4

2

LIC
E

N
S

ED

KA
N

S
A

S

9
7

1
4

2

LIC
E

N
S

ED

KA
N

S
A

S
03
/1
0/
20
22

9999999
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
7

1
4

2
99999999

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIICCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD

KKKKKKK
SSSSSSS

03
/1
0/
20
22 SS



1405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

ADDENDUM NO. 2

Project: 2022 Industrial Park 750,000 Gallon Water Tower Improvements

City of Tonganoxie, KS

BG Project No. 21-1343L

Date Issued: March 15, 2022

Bid Date & Time: March 17, 2022 @ 3:00 P.M.  

The following items shall amend, or in case of conflict, supersede the contract documents for the 
above referenced project:

Item 1: 

Bidders shall attach a qualification statement to the bid with supporting documentation showing 
evidence of the completion of 5 composite water towers with a capacity of 750,000 gallons or greater. 

Item 2:

On detail 3 on Sheet C2.0, an outside shaft ladder is shown for access to the exterior painter’s rail. If 
the exterior painter’s rail can be reached without a ladder, then the outside shaft ladder may be 
omitted from the tank.

Item 3:

Sheet C2.0 is modified by addendum. See enclosed sheet.

Item 4:

Section 33 16 00 Part 2.02.E.2 shall include the following sentence at the end of its paragraph:

“The inlet and outlet riser pipe material shall be a minimum of schedule 10, 304 stainless steel. Final 
design and selection of material will be the responsibility of the tower design engineer.”

Item 5:

Section 33 16 00 Part 2.02.E.5 shall include the following sentence at the end of its paragraph:

“The overflow pipe material shall be a minimum of 11-gauge, 304 stainless steel. Final design and 
selection of material will be the responsibility of the tower design engineer.”



 

21405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

Item 6:

Section 33 16 00 Part 3.01.A.1 shall include the following sentence at the end of its paragraph:

“Grinding of weld contours shall approximate Condition D of NACE Standard SP0178.”

Item 7:

Section 33 16 00 Part 2.02.E.3.b shall be modified to read as the following:

b. Material: The material shall be Foamglas cellular glass thermal 
insulation, ASTM C 552, 2” thick, jacketed with Pittwrap-stainless 
steel or aluminum jacketing (0.016 thickness), as manufactured by 
Pittsburg Corning Corporation; TRYMER 2000 XP 
polyisocyanurate insulation, ASTM C591, jacketed with stainless 
steel or aluminum jacketing (0.016 thickness) as manufactured by 
ITW Insulation Systems; or approved equal. The jacket shall be 
secured as recommended by the manufacturer.

Item 8:

Section 33 16 00 Part 2.02.E.11 shall be modified to read as the following:

11. Platform: A 4- or 5-foot-wide upper platform shall be located at the top of 
the concrete support column to provide access from the pedestal ladder 
to the roof access ladder located on the interior of the access tube. 
Platforms shall be provided with handrails, midrails and toe plates in 
accordance with OSHA requirements. Grating shall be used for the 
walking surface. The components of the platform shall be galvanized 
steel.

Item 9:

Section 33 16 00 Part 2.02.E.13.d shall be modified to read as the following:

d. Ladder shall be fabricated of aluminum or galvanized steel with 
grooved, skid-resistant rungs, per OSHA.

Item 10:

The tower inlet/outlet pipe as shown on detail 3 on Sheet C2.0 shall be installed above the pile cap. 
The pipe is not to be routed under the pile cap.

Item 11:

In the Agreement between Owner and Contractor Article 4 – Contract Times, the date for substantial 
completion shall be modified to be MMay 1, 2023, and the date for final completion shall be modified 
to be MMay 31, 2023.  



 

31405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

Item 12:

Sheet G2.0 Note 5 shall be modified to read as follows:

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED TO WORK ON WEEKENDS (SATURDAYS/SUNDAYS) 
AND HOLIDAYS.

Item 13:

Electronic bid submittals will not be allowed for this bid. Send bids to Tonganoxie City Hall at 526 E 
4th Street, Tonganoxie, Kansas, as instructed in the project manual.

Item 14:

The city owns all easements and permissions shown on construction drawings.

Item 15:

A list of subcontractors and a list of suppliers are not required with the bid package.

Item 16:

The pedestal of the water tower shall be 32’ in diameter. If the contractor wishes to reduce the size 
of the pedestal, the contractor must show a design retaining the same or similar functionality of the 
original design (room for piping and access and interior vehicle parking). The City may approve a 
redesign after the project has been awarded.

Item 17:

Only one logo will be painted on the tower bowl.

Item 18:

Leavenworth County may require a hauling permit on Kansas Avenue accessing the site. This permit 
is based upon the size of construction equipment used to haul materials to the site. Contact Tim 
Urban (913-684-0469) for information about county permitting.

Item 19:

The City of Tonganoxie will require a building permit for the project. The building permit fee shall be 
waived. Building permit information is available at the following website:

https://www.tonganoxie.org/city-planning-and-zoning/pages/licenses-permits

The City will also require acquisition of a city business license for the Contractor. Information about 
the city business license is also available at the above website.



 

41405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

Item 20:

The Contractor shall need to coordinate utility connections with the power company (Evergy). The 
Contractor shall include in the bid all utility and permit fees required. Contact Ross Harris 
(Ross.Harris@Evergy.com (785) 865-4857) for more information about utility coordination and cost.

Item 21:

Progress meetings can be held remotely via a web conference program such as Zoom. 

Item 22:

The overhead door operator is removed from sheet E100. The garage door on the north side of the 
water tower shall be operated by a manual operator per specification 33 16 00 part 2.02.E.17.

Item 23:

On Sheet E100 detail 2, the “SCADA/TELEMETRY EQUIPMENT” note refers to an electrical panel. The 
Contractor will not be responsible for providing the electrical panel. The tower design needs to 
provide space for the SCADA/telemetry panel.

Item 24:

A buttress section, as shown on Sheet C2.1 detail 1, may not be required depending on the 
Contractor’s structural design.

Item 25:

The pressure transducer, as shown on Sheet C2.1 detail 3, shall be provided by others. The 
Contractor shall provide a tap, nipple, and isolation ball valve for a future pressure transducer.

Sincerely,

BG Consultants, Inc.

 Paul Owings, P.E.

Project Manager



 

51405 Wakarusa Drive    Lawrence, Kansas 66049
    T: 785.749.4474    Web: www.bgcons.com

Acknowledge Receipt of Addendum aand include Addendum in proposal:

Contractor’s Signature

                                

Company



2022 INDUSTRIAL PARK
750,000 GALLON WATER TOWER IMPROVEMENTS

Sh
t. 

N
o.

21
-1

34
3L

En
gi

ne
er

:

D
ra

fte
r:

NO.INITIALS DATE REVISIONS

To
ta

l S
ht

s.

Pr
oj

ec
t N

o.PC
O

D
at

e:

AC 15

2/
17

/2
02

2WATER TOWER DETAILS

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

W
A

TE
R

 T
O

W
ER

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

 D
ET

A
IL

3 C
2.

0

1.
D

ES
IG

N
 C

R
IT

ER
IA

1.
A.

TH
E 

TA
N

K 
AN

D
 S

U
PP

O
R

T 
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
E 

SH
AL

L 
BE

 D
ES

IG
N

ED
, F

AB
R

IC
AT

ED
, A

N
D

 E
R

EC
TE

D
 IN

 A
C

C
O

R
D

AN
C

E 
W

IT
H

 A
W

W
A 

D
10

7 
AN

D
 T

H
E 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
SP

EC
IF

IC
AT

IO
N

S.
1.

B.
LO

AD
IN

G
 C

R
IT

ER
IA

:
1.

B.
A.

BA
SI

C
 W

IN
D

 S
PE

ED
: 1

20
 M

PH
1.

B.
B.

G
R

O
U

N
D

 S
N

O
W

 L
O

AD
: 2

0 
PS

F
1.

B.
C

.
M

C
E 

G
R

O
U

N
D

 M
O

TI
O

N
, 0

.2
 S

EC
 P

ER
IO

D
 (S

S)
: 0

.1
13

1.
B.

D
.

M
C

E 
G

R
O

U
N

D
 M

O
TI

O
N

, 1
.0

 S
EC

 P
ER

IO
D

 (S
1):

 0
.0

61

2.
M

AT
ER

IA
LS

2.
A.

ST
EE

L 
PL

AT
E:

  A
ST

M
 A

28
3 

O
R

 A
ST

M
 A

36
2.

B.
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
AL

 S
H

AP
ES

:  
AS

TM
 A

36
2.

C
.

LA
D

D
ER

 R
U

N
G

S:
  A

ST
M

 A
70

6

3.
G

EN
ER

AL

3.
A.

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
 S

H
AL

L 
H

AV
E 

A 
PA

IN
TI

N
G

 S
C

H
EM

E 
AS

 F
O

LL
O

W
S:

 G
R

AY
 W

IT
H

 A
 W

H
IT

E 
LO

G
O

 A
N

D
 L

ET
TE

R
IN

G
.S

EE
 D

ET
AI

L 
2 

O
N

 T
H

IS
 S

H
EE

T 
FO

R
 L

O
G

O
 D

ES
IG

N
.

3.
B.

AL
L 

AC
C

ES
SO

R
IE

S 
SH

O
W

N
 O

N
 T

H
E 

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
 D

R
AW

IN
G

 M
AY

 B
E 

R
O

TA
TE

D
 F

O
R

 C
LA

R
IT

Y.
3.

C
.

AL
L 

LA
D

D
ER

S,
 L

AD
D

ER
 S

AF
ET

Y 
D

EV
IC

ES
, P

LA
TF

O
R

M
S,

 H
AN

D
R

AI
LS

, E
TC

. S
H

AL
L 

C
O

N
FO

R
M

 T
O

 C
U

R
R

EN
T 

O
SH

A 
R

EG
U

LA
TI

O
N

S.
3.

D
.

SU
R

FA
C

E 
PR

EP
AR

AT
IO

N
 A

N
D

 C
O

AT
IN

G
 R

EQ
U

IR
EM

EN
TS

 S
H

AL
L 

BE
 IN

 A
C

C
O

R
D

AN
C

E 
W

IT
H

 T
H

E 
PR

O
JE

C
T 

SP
EC

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S.

3.
E.

TH
E 

TA
N

K 
SH

AL
L 

BE
 D

IS
IN

FE
C

TE
D

 IN
 A

C
C

O
R

D
AN

C
E 

W
IT

H
 A

W
W

A 
C

65
2 

M
ET

H
O

D
 2

.
3.

F.
PR

O
VI

D
E 

 M
O

N
O

LI
TH

IC
  R

EI
N

FO
R

C
ED

  C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
 IN

TE
R

N
AL

 B
U

TT
R

ES
S 

 S
EC

TI
O

N
  O

N
  E

AC
H

  S
ID

E 
 O

F 
 V

EH
IC

LE
  D

O
O

R
. B

U
TT

R
ES

S 
 T

O
  B

E 
 M

IN
IM

U
M

  3
'-6

"  
W

ID
E

AN
D

  6
"  

TH
IC

KE
R

  T
H

AN
 N

O
M

IN
AL

  W
AL

L 
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
.

4.
SL

AB
 O

N
 G

R
AD

E

4.
A.

PR
O

VI
D

E 
A 

6"
 T

H
IC

K 
40

00
 P

SI
 C

O
N

C
R

ET
E 

FL
O

O
R

 O
N

 C
O

M
PA

C
TE

D
 G

R
AN

U
LA

R
 F

IL
L 

R
EI

N
FO

R
C

ED
 W

IT
H

 #
4 

BA
R

S 
AT

 1
2"

 C
EN

TE
R

S 
EA

C
H

 W
AY

.
4.

B.
PR

O
VI

D
E 

1/
2"

 IS
O

LA
TI

O
N

 J
O

IN
T 

BE
TW

EE
N

 F
LO

O
R

 A
N

D
 W

AL
L 

AN
D

 A
T 

AL
L 

FL
O

O
R

 P
EN

ET
R

AT
IO

N
S.

 C
AP

 W
IT

H
 S

EL
F 

LE
VE

LI
N

G
 S

EA
LA

N
T.

4.
C

.
SA

W
C

U
T 

C
O

N
TR

O
L 

JO
IN

TS
 1

 1
/2

" D
EE

P 
AT

 2
0 

FE
ET

 M
AX

IM
U

M
 C

EN
TE

R
S.

4.
D

.
SL

O
PE

 S
LA

B 
M

IN
IM

U
M

 0
.5

%
 T

O
 V

EH
IC

LE
 D

O
O

R
 F

O
R

 D
R

AI
N

AG
E.

5.
M

EC
H

AN
IC

AL

5.
A.

PR
O

VI
D

E 
EX

PA
N

SI
O

N
 J

O
IN

T 
O

N
 IN

LE
T/

O
U

TL
ET

 R
IS

ER
 T

O
 A

C
C

O
M

M
O

D
AT

E 
M

AX
IM

U
M

 P
O

TE
N

TI
AL

 D
IF

FE
R

EN
TI

AL
 M

O
VE

M
EN

T.
5.

B.
C

O
N

N
EC

T 
 R

IS
ER

  A
N

D
  O

VE
R

FL
O

W
  W

IT
H

  A
  V

AL
VE

D
  L

AT
ER

AL
 F

O
R

  T
AN

K 
 D

R
AI

N
IN

G
. S

EE
 D

ET
AI

L 
3 

O
N

 S
H

EE
T 

C
2.

1.
5.

C
.

PR
O

VI
D

E 
 T

H
R

U
ST

  R
ES

TR
AI

N
T 

 A
N

D
  S

U
PP

O
R

T 
 A

S 
 R

EQ
U

IR
ED

.

LW
L:

 1
02

6.
25

FF
E:

 9
69

.0
0

H
W

L:
 1

06
4.

25

2.
00

 T
AN

K 
D

IA
M

ET
ER

38.00' HEAD RANGE HEIGHT TO LOW WATER LEVEL = 57.25'

HEIGHT TO HIGH WATER LEVEL = 95.25'

R
O

O
F

H
AN

D
R

AI
L

R
O

O
F 

VE
N

T
AC

C
ES

S 
TU

BE
 M

AN
W

AY

R
O

O
F 

M
AN

W
AY

PA
IN

TE
R

'S
 M

AN
W

AY

IN
LE

T/
O

U
TL

ET
 P

IP
E

W
IT

H
 E

XP
AN

SI
O

N
 J

O
IN

T

O
VE

R
FL

O
W

 P
IP

E

SE
C

O
N

D
AR

Y 
TA

N
K 

D
R

AI
N

W
AL

KW
AY

SH
AF

T 
VE

N
T

R
ES

T 
PL

AT
FO

R
M

32
-0

" S
H

AF
T 

D
IA

M
ET

ER

BO
W

L 
M

AN
W

AY
 L

AD
D

ER
W

IT
H

 S
AF

ET
Y 

D
EV

IC
E

W
AL

KW
AY

 T
O

 A
C

C
ES

S 
TU

BE
 L

AD
D

ER
W

IT
H

 S
AF

ET
Y 

D
EV

IC
E

O
U

TS
ID

E 
SH

AF
T 

LA
D

D
ER

W
IT

H
 S

AF
ET

Y 
D

EV
IC

E

AC
C

ES
S 

TU
BE

 L
AD

D
ER

W
IT

H
 S

AF
ET

Y 
D

EV
IC

E

IN
SI

D
E 

TA
N

K 
LA

D
D

ER
W

IT
H

 S
AF

ET
Y 

D
EV

IC
E

SH
AF

T 
LA

D
D

ER
W

IT
H

 S
AF

ET
Y 

D
EV

IC
E

C
2.

0

EX
TE

N
D

 S
H

AF
T 

BE
LO

W
 G

R
AD

E.
 L

O
C

AT
E

IN
LE

T/
O

U
TL

ET
 P

IP
E 

AB
O

VE
 F

O
U

N
D

AT
IO

N
 (P

IL
E 

C
AP

).
PR

O
VI

D
E 

12
" (

M
IN

.) 
C

LE
AR

AN
C

E 
BE

TW
EE

N
IN

LE
T/

O
U

TL
ET

 P
IP

E 
AN

D
 T

O
P 

O
F 

FO
U

N
D

AT
IO

N
.

1
"

 IN
LE

T/
O

U
TL

ET
PI

PE

1 
- #

5 
E.

F.
 6

' (
TY

P.
) A

LL
 F

O
U

R
 C

O
R

N
ER

S

PL
AC

E 
BA

R
S 

EQ
U

AL
 IN

 A
R

EA
 T

O
 O

N
E 

H
AL

F 
TH

E
IN

TE
R

R
U

PT
ED

 B
AR

S 
O

N
 E

AC
H

 S
ID

E 
O

F 
O

PE
N

IN
G

.
BA

R
S 

SH
AL

L 
BE

 #
5 

AT
 A

 M
IN

IM
U

M
 U

N
LE

SS
O

TH
ER

W
IS

E 
N

O
TE

D
.

2"
 T

YP
.

"D
"

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

U
N

SL
EE

VE
D

 O
PE

N
IN

G
1 C
2.

0

1.
"C

" T
EN

SI
O

N
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

LE
N

G
TH

: P
R

O
VI

D
E 

ST
D

 H
O

O
K 

IF
 F

U
LL

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
LE

N
G

TH
 IS

 N
O

T 
PO

SS
IB

LE
.

2.
R

EI
N

FO
R

C
IN

G
 S

TE
EL

 IS
 T

O
 B

E 
C

AR
R

IE
D

 A
C

R
O

SS
 A

LL
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
 J

O
IN

TS
.

3.
D

ET
AI

L 
IS

 T
YP

. F
O

R
 A

LL
 O

PE
N

IN
G

S 
G

R
EA

TE
R

 T
H

AN
 1

0"
 IN

 C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
W

AL
LS

 A
N

D
 S

LA
BS

.
4.

EX
TR

A 
BA

R
S 

AR
E 

N
O

T 
R

EQ
U

IR
ED

 A
T 

AN
 O

PE
N

IN
G

 E
D

G
E 

PA
R

AL
LE

L 
TO

 A
N

D
 W

IT
H

IN
 6

" O
F 

A 
W

AL
L.

 P
R

O
VI

D
E 

2"
C

LE
AR

AN
C

E 
FR

O
M

 R
EI

N
FO

R
C

IN
G

 T
O

 E
D

G
E 

O
F 

O
PE

N
IN

G
. T

YP
.

"C
"

TO
G

: 9
68

.5
0

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

LO
G

O
 D

ES
IG

N
2 C
2.

0

LO
G

O
 T

O
 B

E 
PA

IN
TE

D
 W

H
IT

E

BO
W

L 
TO

 B
E 

PA
IN

TE
D

 G
R

AY

+/
- A

D
D

ED
 B

Y
AD

D
EN

D
U

M
  1

   1     ADDED +/- SYMBOL TO WATER TOWER   3-14-22     AC



CORE/3516145.0002/173271595.1 

RESOLUTION NO. 03-22-02 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
THE CONTRACT FOR THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN STUDY AMONG THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF LEAVENWORTH, KANSAS AND 
THE CITIES OF LANSING, BASEHOR, LEAVENWORTH AND 
TONGANOXIE, KANSAS. 

WHEREAS, the City of Tonganoxie, Kansas (the "City") desires to cooperate 
with the Cities of Lansing, Basehor and Leavenworth, Kansas (collectively, the "Cities"), 
and the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Leavenworth, Kansas (the 
"County"), to develop a Kansas Department of Transportation Network Regional 
Transportation Capital Improvement Plan Study (the "Study");  

WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-2908 permits the Cities and the County to enter into a 
contract to perform any governmental service, activity or undertaking that each is 
authorized by law to perform, and any such contract does not constitute an interlocal 
agreement under K.S.A. 12-2901 et seq.;  

WHEREAS, the Study will evaluate, estimate and prioritize the future 
construction of public infrastructure in order to improve the quality of life and foster 
economic growth in the County and Cities; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has determined that it is advisable to enter into 
the Contract for the Regional Transportation Capital Improvement Plan Study, attached 
hereto as Exhibit A (the "Contract"), with the County and the Cities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS: 

Section 1.  The Governing Body hereby approves the Contract in substantially the 
form attached hereto. 

Section 2.  The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute the Contract on behalf of 
the City, and the City Manager and other officials and representatives of the City are 
hereby authorized and directed to take such actions and to execute any other documents, 
certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply 
with the intent of this Resolution.   

Section 3.  This Resolution shall be effective upon adoption by the Governing 
Body. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows.] 



CORE/3516145.0002/173271595.1 

ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, 
KANSAS, AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 21st DAY OF MARCH, 2022. 

 

SEAL 

 

       ______________________________ 
        David Frese, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
Daniel Porter, Acting City Clerk 

 

  



CORE/3516145.0002/173271595.1 

EXHIBIT A 

Contract for the Regional Transportation Capital Improvement Plan Study 

 

 

[Attached.] 



EXHIBIT A – Scope of Services, Schedule, and Fee Estimate 
Leavenworth County Regional Capital Improvement Project Prioritization 

February 28, 2022 
 

Background 
Over the past few decades there have been numerous studies focusing on transportation infrastructure 
in and around the Leavenworth County region. These studies have focused on projects that range from 
modest investments to visions of new freeways and river crossings. With this range in studies, however, 
comes a question of what do the leaders and stakeholders in the region want to prioritize and unite 
behind to seek regional, state, or federal funding sources? 

To accomplish this, this project will refresh the studies already completed to gather a baseline data 
source for comparison using the same methodology for cost estimates and benefits / impacts, as well as 
new ideas not formally developed. A set of criteria, established in an open process, will be developed to 
evaluate and prioritize the projects based on the funding source. Throughout this process, an open 
engagement process will be utilized to tie both the project identification and criteria development 
together. 

Scope of Services 
Phase 100 – Project Management 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., will provide the overall project management for the consultant team 
which includes Venice Communications (collectively referred to as the Project Team). Kimley-Horn’s 
Project Manager will provide overall direction to the team, conduct internal coordination meetings, 
monitor project budget and schedule, and oversee the Quality Assurance and Quality Control for the 
project. 

Task 101 – Project Management 
Invoices and progress reports will be prepared monthly and submitted to the Client for review and 
processing. Meeting minutes, including action items, will be prepared and distributed within three 
business days. 

Task 102 – Steering Committee Meetings 
Monthly steering committee meetings are anticipated through the duration of this project (a total of 12 
meetings). The Project Team will prepare agendas and materials for the meetings, provide general 
facilitation during the meetings, and prepare meeting summaries and action items. Meetings will be 
held virtually and attended by representatives (staff typically) of: 

 Leavenworth County Port Authority 
 County of Leavenworth 
 City of Leavenworth 
 City of Lansing 
 City of Basehor 
 City of Tonganoxie 



 Kansas Department of Transportation 
 Mid-America Regional Council 

 
Phase 200 – Engagement 
The Project Team will lead the public engagement, which includes stakeholder and elected official 
engagement, through this project.  

Task 201 – Branding Facilitation 
The Project Team will lead a facilitation meeting (in person or virtual) to aid in the development of a 
brand statement, promise and logo developed for this project, with the intent of developing a brand 
that in inclusive and equitable for all entities involved. This work will include: 

 Brand Statement 
 Brand Promise 
 3 Logo Concepts 
 Naming & Tagline Options 
 Final Logo & Files 

 

Task 202 – Stakeholder Coordination 
The Project Team will develop a Stakeholder List for review by the Steering Committee. Once the list is 
confirmed by the Steering Committee, the Project Team will facilitate two rounds of stakeholder 
communications:  

 The first round of the stakeholder communications will focus on region-wide stakeholder 
groups, such as industrial developers, economic development coordinators, first responders, 
etc. A total of six meetings will be held virtually in this round. 

 The second round of the stakeholder communications will be in-person and focus on specific 
communities including the Unincorporated County, the Port Authority, and the Cities of 
Leavenworth, Lansing, Basehor, and Tonganoxie. A total of six meetings will be held in person. 
 

Task 203 – Hybrid Public Meetings (virtual and in person) 
Two rounds of hybrid (virtual and in person) public meetings will be held to inform the public of the 
progress and solicit input on the results. The first round will be held to review potential projects as well 
as scoring criteria. The second round will be held to post the draft results. 

 The meetings will be held both online (in a virtual format) as well as two in-person meetings in an open-
house style format, for a total of four in-person meetings. The information presented both virtual and 
in-person will be identical, with an opportunity to provide feedback in either settings. It is assumed the 
client will secure and provide the facilities for these meetings at no cost to the Project Team. 

An electronic flyer will be developed for distribution, as well as draft media releases (to be released by 
the Steering Committee). The Project Team will also facilitate media outreach and coordination, as well 
as social media posts and graphics. 



Task 204 – Project Website Development 
An online project website will be developed for this project, which will include ongoing progress 
updates, links to Kimley-Horn’s ProjectCoordinate page for public comments and mapping, and online 
surveys. 

 

Phase 300 – Criteria Development 
The Project Team will work with the Steering Committee to establish evaluation criteria that reflect the 
priorities of Leavenworth County stakeholders, the general public, and the entities which will be 
potentially supplying funding to the County. It is anticipated an initial wide range of criteria will be 
developed that apply to some but not all stakeholders and funding sources. Examples of the broad 
evaluation criteria, which will be further defined in this process, includes: 

Example Broad Criteria 
KDOT IKE Program MARC Federal Grants 

Current Congestion Project Readiness Project Readiness 
Future Congestion Regional Plans, Policies and 

Strategies 
State and Local Planning 

Truck Traffic Centers and Corridors Focus Environmental Approvals 
(NEPA) Status 

Safety Access to Opportunity Right-of-Way and Design Status 
Gross Regional Product / Cost Economic Vitality Benefit-Cost Analysis 
Traveler Benefit / Cost Transportation Choices Access to Opportunity 
Local Input Public Health & Safety Areas of Persistent Poverty 
Route Continuity Healthy Environment National Economic Impacts 
Previous Investment   

  

The Project Team will work with the Steering Committee to define how each criterion will be measured 
(i.e., quantitatively vs. qualitatively, units of measurement).  

 

Phase 400 – Project Definition 
Task 401 – Project Identification 
To define the projects for evaluation we will start by mapping and analyzing results from the previous 
studies. Details of those projects will be mapped in our online tool so that they can be easily viewed by 
the various entities and potentially the public. The mapping of these projects will also serve as a 
backdrop for the broader call for new projects to be considered and evaluated. 

It is assumed that the Steering Committee will provide, in hard copy or electronic format, all previous 
studies and plans to be included in this stage. This includes, but may not be limited to: 

 2014 5-County Study (KC Metro + Douglas County) 
 2000 Kaw Connect Major Corridor Study (I-70: Topeka to Kansas County) 
 2006 K-7 Corridor Management Plan 
 2007 US-24 / 40 Corridor Management Plan 
 2008 T-Link & KDOT Consultation: Leavenworth County Transportation Priorities) 



 2016 K-92 Centennial Bridge Study 
 Patriot Highway (PPP Agreement) 
 Leavenworth County, city stakeholders, and surrounding county Comprehensive Plans 
 2020 Eastern Gateway Concept Study 
 2018 Leavenworth County Transit Plan  

 
Task 402 – Project Costs 
With a range of projects, all conducted in various years and evaluated based on varying performance 
measures, it will be necessary to develop a common set of “truth” by which each of these projects can 
be evaluated. The Project Team will update: 

 Project Costs – the Project Team will update the costs provided to today’s dollars based on 
recent awards in the area. It is anticipated costs will be developed with standard elements, such 
as lane-feet of roadway and square footage of structures, to the costs.  

 Operations & Maintenance – the Project Team will define the impact to operations and 
maintenance costs by whichever entity (municipal, county, or KDOT) that would ultimately 
“own” the project. 

 Right-of-Way Needs and Costs – how much Right-of-Way would be needed will be estimated as 
well as approximate costs. Note that detailed appraisals would not be conducted, rather a 
square-foot or acre cost based on the project location (rural, municipal, highway frontage, etc.) 
based on input from the Steering Committee. 

 Utility Impacts – define the type and amount of utilities that would need to be impacted, and 
the magnitude of those relocations (service versus transmission). 

 Potential Environmental Impacts – the Project Team will conduct a desktop environmental 
screening of the projects to identify potential impacts, as well as the potential NEPA clearance 
that would be involved with each project. 
 

Task 403 – Project Benefits 
In a similar manner, the Project Team will define benefits for the projects that focus on both 
transportation and economic factors critical for.  

 Access to opportunities – improving access to jobs 
 Economic Development – positioning property for new development  
 Transportation User Benefits - including reduced congestion, improved travel times, and options 

for travel (routes and modes). Where possible and appropriate, the Project Team will evaluate 
certain projects utilizing MARC’s regional transportation model to determine the benefit under 
the assumption MARC’s staff will conduct the model runs and provide output to the Project 
Team. New traffic counts, where needed, will also be conducted to understand the existing 
travel demands. 

 Safety Improvements – using the Highway Safety Manual where appropriate, the Project Team 
will apply crash reduction factors for new projects and estimate the improvements to safety. To 
understand existing trends, the Project Team will rely on crash data provided by MARC and 
KDOT. 

 Freight and Travel Resiliency – Where appropriate, the Project Team will assess the impact the 
projects will have on freight flow, and if they bring a resiliency factor that is key to on-time 
delivery of freight that is critical to economic activity. 

These projects, and the metrics of how they are defined, will evolve as the evaluation criteria (Phase 
300) are developed on a similar path. 



Phase 500 – Prioritization Tool Development 
In collaboration with the Steering Committee, the Project Team will incorporate the Project List 
(developed in Phase 400) with the suite of Evaluation Criteria (developed in Phase 300) to develop an 
interactive Prioritization Tool application. It is anticipated that the tool will allow for a user to modify the 
scoring and weighting of each criteria and then visualize results in both online map and table format 
(compatible with Microsoft Excel).  

Task 501 - Scoring Functionality 
Ultimately, in order for projects to be compared to each other on an “apples-to-apples” basis, the 
quantitative cost and benefits metrics (developed in Phase 400) need to be converted into transparent, 
standardized 1-to-5 scores. The Project Team will develop an interactive component within the tool that 
allows for a user to define scoring bins for each criterion.  

Upon further collaboration with the Steering Committee, it may be that the 1-to-5 scoring functionality 
be “hidden” or only accessible to certain users of the tool (such as the Steering Committee) so that 
exercises can be performed to understand how tweaking various scoring bins results in changes to 
overall scores. The determination of what level of access is provided for the scoring functionality will 
take place during the project process.  

Task 502 - Weighting Functionality 
Once all projects are scored on a 1-to-5 basis for each evaluation criterion, the criteria need to be 
assigned weights reflecting the priorities of stakeholders or the funding source being pursued. The 
Project Team will develop an interactive component within the tool that allows for a user to define 
weights for each criterion (for example, assigning a weight of 30% to economic development and 10% 
for safety, with the idea that the weights will add up to 100%). Certain criteria my need to be given a 
weight of 0 or “turned off” if they are not applicable for a particular funding source being pursued.  

Similar to the scoring functionality, upon further collaboration with the Steering Committee, it may be 
that the weighting functionality be “hidden” or only accessible to certain users of the tool (such as the 
Steering Committee) so that exercises can be performed to understand how tweaking various weights 
results in changes to overall scores. The determination of what level of access is provided for the 
weighting functionality will take place during the project process.  

Task 503 - Visualization of Results 
Once scoring and weighting have been assigned to the evaluation criteria and all projects have been 
input into the tool, the tool must allow for visualizing the outputs (projects ranked with scoring and 
weighting shown). The Project Team will develop a web page that has a tab with an interactive map for 
viewing project locations and clicking on a project to see more information about its scoring and 
weighting, as well as an interactive table (on a separate tab) that lists the ranked projects and scores. 
The Project Team will provide the functionality to export the table results to be viewed in Microsoft 
Excel.  

Task 504 - Documentation 
The prioritization tool methodology will be summarized in a technical memorandum assumed to be 
delivered as part of the overall Final Report (Phase 700). The Project Team will provide an “instructions” 
or “user guide” page within the online application web page.  



Phase 600 – Analysis and Refinement 
The Project Team will internally conduct test runs of the application and provide initial results to the 
Steering Committee. It is anticipated that this testing phase will be an iterative and collaborative process 
between the Project Team and the Steering Committee to understand how changing scoring bins or 
weighting affects the outputs/rankings as well as to understand if the desired functionality is being 
achieved. The Project Team assumes no more than three (3) iterations per Steering committee member.  

Phase 700 – Final Documentation 
Task 701 – Draft Report 
The results of the study will be documented in an electronic (PDF) draft report, summarizing the project 
methodology, analysis, results, and engagement process. This draft study will be submitted to the 
Steering Committee for review and comment. 

Task 702 – Work Sessions 
The draft results of this study will be presented to each of the impacted governing bodies for 
consideration, including the Leavenworth County Port Authority, County of Leavenworth, and the Cities 
of Leavenworth, Lansing, Basehor, and Tonganoxie (six meetings total). 

Task 703 – Final Report 
Following input from the governing bodies work sessions, the draft report will be finalized reflecting 
comments received. The final report will be provided in electronic format (PDF). 

Phase 800 – Optional Services 
Task 801 – On-going Support 
The application will be hosted and maintained by the Project Team for the duration of the project. Upon 
completion of the project, the Project Team can continue to host the application for a to-be-negotiated 
annual subscription fee. Any modifications or maintenance to the application would be considered 
Additional Services subject to then-current hourly rates. All new projects submitted beyond those 
included in this project will need to have the various project costs and benefits calculated in advance of 
use of this tool and will be the responsibility of the client.  

Task 802 - Project Input Functionality  
As an optional feature of the online application, the consultant will develop a “Project Information 
Sheet” form to standardize the information being included in the tool for each project. It is anticipated 
that for the first iteration of this tool, development of this form will be skipped in lieu of compiling all 
relevant project information and shapefiles behind-the-scenes, but this form would allow future users to 
submit project information to be included as part of the tool.  

Schedule 
It is anticipated this project will be completed within approximately 12 months, albeit that timing will be 
dictated, to some degree, by the scheduling of elected body work sessions near the end of the project.  

  



Fee  
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. will be paid a lump sum fee of $580,000.  The project will be billed 
monthly as a percent complete for each phase as follows: 

Project Phase Fee 
100 – Project Management $52,500 
200 – Engagement $119,500 
300 – Criteria Development $38,000 
400 – Project Definition $179,500 
500 – Criteria Development $96,000 
600 – Analysis and Refinement $50,000 
700 – Final Documentation $44,500 
Total $580,800 

 



 
 

CONTRACT FOR THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
STUDY 

Between 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF LEAVENWORTH, 
KANSAS 

and 

CITY OF LANSING, KANSAS, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION  
AND CITY OF THE SECOND CLASS 

 
and 

CITY OF BASEHOR, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
AND CITY OF THE THIRD CLASS 

 
and 

 
CITY OF LEAVENWORTH, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION  

AND CITY OF THE FIRST CLASS 
 

and 
 

CITY OF TONGANOXIE, A MUNICIPAL CORPRORATION  
AND CITY OF THE SECOND CLASS 

  
RECITALS 

Whereas,  the Cities of Lansing, Basehor, Leavenworth and Tonganoxie Kansas, Municipal 
Corporations under the laws of the State of Kansas, hereinafter, the “Cities” and the Board of 
County Commissioners of the County of Leavenworth, Kansas, hereinafter, the “County”,  desire to 
cooperate in developing a Kansas Department of Transportation Network Regional Transportation 
Capital Improvement Plan Study (“Study”) for the future construction of public infrastructure in 
order  to improve the quality of life and foster economic growth in the County and City through the 
accomplishment updating project cost estimates and prioritizing projects based upon an open and 
transparent process, Specifically the scope of services proposed by Kimley-Horn.  

Whereas, the County has been awarded funds from KDOT for the Study through a separate 
agreement. 

 



Whereas, the construction of any of the projects identified through the Study will be mutually 
beneficial for the Cities and the County and will encourage and foster the development of our 
greater community, providing an economic benefit to the Cities, the County. and to the citizens; 
and 

Whereas, K.S.A. 12-2908 provides that any municipality may contract with any other 
municipality, county, or township to perform any governmental service, activity or undertaking 
which each contracting municipality, county and township is authorized by law to perform; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants hereinafter 
contained, the parties agree as follows: 

Section 1.        Recitals.  The recitals are hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

Section 2.        Authority.  Pursuant to K.S.A. 12-2908, the parties hereto enter into this 
Contract as authorized by the Governing Body of the Cities of Lansing, Basehor, Tonganoxie, 
and Leavenworth Kansas, and the Board of County Commissioners of the County of 
Leavenworth, Kansas, for the purposes set forth below. 

Section 3.        Purposes.   The purpose for which the parties enter into this contract are to 
cause the completion of the Regional Transportation Capital Improvement Plan Study, and to 
be referred to as the “Study”. 

Section 4. Contingency.  The obligations of the Cities and County, as recited and 
agreed to within this contract are wholly contingent upon the receipt by the County funding 
for the Study. The parties explicitly understand and agree that should either KDOT 
provided funds, or funds to be provided by the cities not be provided to the county that the 
mutual obligations created herein shall become null and void.    

Section 5.        Terms and Conditions.  Under terms of this Contract, the Cities and the County 
agree to the following: 

A.  Completion of the Regional Transportation Capital Improvement Plan Study  

 (1)  The city represents that is has secured, or will secure, sufficient funding for its share of 
the cost of the Study.  The contract with Kimley-Horn for the project is attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A”.   

 (2) The funding allocation amounts for the project are as follows:  

KDOT                                          $250,000 
Leavenworth County               $150,000 
City of Leavenworth                $90,000 
Lansing                                       $30,000 
Basehor                                      $15,000 
Tonganoxie                                $15,000 



 

(3) The funding for the Project will be administered by the County.  The Cities shall be 
responsible for reimbursing the county for all obligated costs within thirty days of the pay 
application by Kimley-Horn submitted and processed by the County. Should, for whatever 
reason, the Study not be completed, the financial obligation of the County and cities created 
herein shall be limited to the proportionate share of each for the work on the Study 
completed.   

  
Section 6.       Additional Contingency.   

 Both the County and the Cities agree that if the Study is not under contract and completion 
within any time deadline created by KDOT the receipt of funds by the County under a future separate 
agreement any funding obligation or duty of the parties for the Study shall become null and void. 

Section 7.        Termination.  Once the Contract for the Study has been approved by all parties, 
and funds for the Study through KDOT received by the County, the parties may not terminate the 
contract unless mutually agreed upon in writing  

 

Section 8. Approval. 

A.   This Contract is effective upon being signed by the appropriate representatives of the Cities 
and the County. It may be periodically reviewed and amended or supplemented as may be 
mutually agreed upon in writing. 

B.   Each of the parties warrants and represents by the execution of this Contract, that it has been 
approved by its governing body and by its legal counsel as to form and legality, that the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Contract by such party has been authorized by 
resolution duly adopted by its governing body, and that this Contract constitutes a legal, 
valid, and binding obligation of such party enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

 
Section 9. Applicable Law.  This Contract shall be governed and interpreted in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas. 

Section 10. Severability.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Contract should be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid for any reason 
whatsoever, such decision shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Contract, which shall 
remain in full force and effect; and to this end the provisions of this Contract are hereby declared to 
be severable and shall be presumed to have been agreed upon knowing that the various provisions of 
this Contract are severable. 

Section 11. Contract.  This Contract is entered into between the Cities and the County pursuant 
to K.S.A. 12-2908 as a Contract and shall be construed as such under the laws of the state of 



Kansas.  Each party represents that full and adequate consideration necessary to affect the creation 
of a contract between them exists under the terms of this contract. 

Section 12. Time of the Essence.  In discharging the duties and obligations set forth in this 
contract each party shall act to promptly undertake such official acts as are necessary on their 
respective parts in order to discharge those duties and obligations. 

Section 13. Full Agreement.  The parties agree that the terms set forth in this contract 
constitutes the entirety of the agreement between them and that all other writings and 
representations outside of this agreement are null and void.  

Section 14. Amendment.  The terms of this agreement may be amended or modified upon 
the agreement by the parties.  Any such amendment or modification shall be reduced to writing 
and adopted by the parties in the same manner as this agreement.  No amendment or 
modification to this agreement shall have force or effect unless so adopted.     

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Contract to be executed and 
made effective as of the date when fully executed herein. 

 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF LEAVENWORTH COUNTY, KANSAS. 

This Contract is approved as authorized by the Board of Commissioners of the County of 
Leavenworth, Kansas, and on the ______ day of __________, 20___. 
  
  
______________________________________ 
Mike Smith, Chair, Board of County Commissioners 
 
  
 Attest: 
 ______________________________________ 
Janet Klasinski, County Clerk 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF LANSING, KANSAS. 

This Contract is approved as authorized by the Governing Body of the City of Lansing, Kansas on 
the ______ day of _____________, 20___. 

 _____________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Lansing 

______________________________________ 
Attest: 
  
 ______________________________________ 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF BASEHOR, KANSAS. 

This Contract is approved as authorized by the Governing Body of the City of Basehor, Kansas on 
the ______ day of _____________, 20___. 

 _____________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Basehor 

______________________________________ 
Attest: 
  
 ______________________________________ 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF LEAVENWORTH, KANSAS. 

This Contract is approved as authorized by the Governing Body of the City of Leavenworth, Kansas 
on the ______ day of _____________, 20___. 

 _____________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Leavenworth 

______________________________________ 
Attest: 
  
 ______________________________________ 
 City Clerk 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS. 

This Contract is approved as authorized by the Governing Body of the City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
on the ______ day of _____________, 20___. 

 _____________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Tonganoxie 

______________________________________ 
Attest: 
  
 ______________________________________ 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 1 of 6  

CITY OF TONGANOXIE FINANCIAL REPORT 
FEBRUARY 2022 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
- 16.7% of FY 2022 completed as of February 28, 2022. 
- Collected 26% of revenue estimates and spent 12% of expenditure budget authority in all funds. 
- The City has completed activities necessary to complete refinancing of Series 2021A Temp Notes 

with the proceeds of GO Bond 2022A. Closing on Series 2022B and 2022C occurred in early March 
2022 and will be reflected in the March 2022 financial report.  

- The City has completed debt service payment obligations due on 3/1/2022 (Series 2018A – Library; 
Series 2017A – Refinancing 09A & 07A) and completed payment for Lease Purchase Obligations due 
on 3/1/2022 (2016 Police Station & City Hall; 2018 Fire Pumper; 2020 Street Sweeper)   

- The City’s Library Fund demonstrates a positive fund balance with a revised procedure to ensure 
advance timing of the reimbursement from the Library Board of insurance premium payments for 
Library employees.   

- Fuel excise tax collections were down 4% from the prior year to date collections. Construction excise 
fee collections were 46% more than prior year to date collections and the special highway fund as a 
whole has increased revenue collections by 7.5% compared to the prior year.   

- American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) - The City currently maintains $339,849 in funding and expects 
to receive $426,007 in 2022, which brings the total expected funds remaining for eventual use to 
$765,856. Reporting for NEU’s like the City of Tonganoxie will be required to be completed in 
March 2022.  

- Quarterly reporting will be completed next month for the first quarter of 2022.  
 

- 2022 annual budget amendments have been approved for the following funds: 
o Police Equipment Reserve – additional revenue anticipation and expenditure authority for 

equipment purchases with grant proceeds (01/18/2022) 
 

  



Page 2 of 6  

Major Fund Revenues 
 

  

 
Major Fund Expenditures 

 
  



Page 3 of 6  

MAJOR REVENUES DETAIL 
Sales & Use Tax -  
☒ Received second 2022 remittance – 10 remaining monthly remittances in 2022. Collection trends are 

positive for City and County Sales & Use, with the largest relative increases compared to last year in   
              General Fund           Infrastructure Sales Tax Fund 

 
General Fund 

Revenue 
2020 YTD 
Revenue 

2021 YTD 
Revenue 

2022 YTD 
Revenue 

% Change from 
2021 

City Sales Tax  79,978   90,621   103,162  13% 

City Use Tax  25,726   29,042   54,769  88% 

 

Infrastructure Sales 
Tax Fund Revenue 

2020 YTD 
Revenue 

2021 YTD 
Revenue 

2022 YTD 
Revenue 

% Change from 
2021 

City Sales Tax  60,088   68,085   77,507  13% 

City Use Tax  19,328   21,819   41,148  88% 

 

 -
 50,000

 100,000
 150,000
 200,000
 250,000
 300,000
 350,000
 400,000
 450,000
 500,000

City Sales City Use

2020 YTD Rev 2021 YTD Rev
2022 YTD Rev 2022 Budget

 -
 50,000

 100,000
 150,000
 200,000
 250,000
 300,000
 350,000
 400,000
 450,000
 500,000

City Sales City Use

2020 YTD Rev 2021 YTD Rev
2022 YTD Rev 2022 Budget



Page 4 of 6  

 
 

Share of County 
Capital Projects 
Fund Revenue 

2020 YTD 
Revenue 

2021 YTD 
Revenue 

2022 YTD 
Revenue 

% Change from 
2021 

County Sales Tax  75,901   78,989   88,034  11% 

County Use Tax  20,271   21,187   34,998  65% 

 
  

 -
 50,000

 100,000
 150,000
 200,000
 250,000
 300,000
 350,000
 400,000
 450,000
 500,000

County Sales County Use

2020 YTD Rev 2021 YTD Rev
2022 YTD Rev 2022 Budget



Page 5 of 6  

2022 BUDGET INITIATIVES  
SALES TAX PROCEEDS 
☐ $368,500 total from the Infrastructure Sales Tax ($170,000) and special highway funding to support a 

5th consecutive year of enhanced street maintenance activities  
☐ $540,000 from the City’s share of the County Sales Tax and the Infrastructure Sales Tax to fund 

replacement of the Church Street Bridge – Survey & partial design completed in FY 2021, 
engineering contract has been approved. 

☒ $74,500 or more from the City’s share of the County Sales Tax to rehab the elevated structures at the 
Tonganoxie Water Park. 

☐ $3,400 from the City’s share of the County Sales Tax to fund bicycle repair stations in local parks. 
 
 GENERAL FUND 
☒ 5% annual merit pool funding available to high performing City employees 

☐ $120,000 for 3 new Police Department Vehicles (Tahoe model) 

☒ $6,000 from the General Fund for Fire Department operational budget costs 

☐ $4,000 from the General Fund for lifeguard stand equipment replacements 

☐ $9,275 from the General Fund for funding assistance for LCDC  

☒ $5,000 from the General Fund for funding assistance for the Tonganoxie Business Association.   

☒ $5,000 from the General Fund for total funding assistance split between the Tonganoxie Arts Council 
and the Tonganoxie Historical Society – amended on 3/7/2022 to contribute $5,000 to each 
organization. 

☐ $10,000 from the General Fund for funding assistance for community events 

☐ $15,000 from the General Fund for funding assistance for the Leavenworth County Regional 
Transportation Study 

☐ Additional $48,163 of funding is available for allocation by the City Council for any previously 
unbudgeted needs arising during FY 2022. - $5,000 allocated for additional community group funding 
support on 3/7/2022. 

  
 UTILITY FUNDS 
☐ Business Park Water Tower Project Construction – Design partially completed in 2021. EDA grant 

funding assistance was confirmed with award announcement.   
☐ Utility improvements – water production plant and wastewater treatment plant analysis and upgrades 

☐ $45,000 from the storm water fund for Church Street corridor stormwater improvements Phase 2  
 
PUBLIC SAFETY CAPITAL FUNDS 
☒ $21,000 from the police capital fund for partially-grant funded Police radios purchase 

☐ $5,000 from the public safety capital funds for firing range improvements  

☐ $12,000 for equipment costs associated with 3 new Police Department Vehicles (Tahoe model) 
 



Page 6 of 6  

ESTIMATED 2023 BUDGET DEVELOPMENT TIMELINE 
☒ March 2022 – Spring Retreat  

☐ May 2022 – Capital Maintenance & Improvements Plan (CMIP) City Council work session 

☐ June 2022 – Base Budget preparation & department budget presentations 

☐ July 2022 – Budget work sessions & notice to County Clerk of proposed mill levy & RNR 

☐ August 2022 – Publication of notice of public hearings 

☐ September 2022 – RNR & Budget Public Hearings and Budget Adoption 

☐ September 2022 – Delivery of Adopted FY 2023 Budget Forms to the Leavenworth County Clerk 

☐ Fall 2022 – Creation of Adopted FY 2023 Budget Book – printed & published online  

ANTICIPATED 2023 BUDGET DEVELOPMENT KEY TOPICS 
Impacts of Inflationary Trends 
Revenue Neutral Rate Procedural Adjustments  
Fund Balance Targets Re-Evaluation 
Capital Projects Prioritization & Major Infrastructure Investments 
Development of a Capital Maintenance and Improvement Plan specifically for the Water Park 
Impacts of local development activity  
 
 
 



My Fund Balance Report
City of Tonganoxie, KS As Of 02/28/2022

Fund Beginning Balance Total Revenues Total Expenses Ending Balance

100 - General Fund 901,638.50 1,121,153.26 495,888.46 1,526,903.30

210 - Water Operations Fund 862,357.02 241,579.98 201,164.52 902,772.48

220 - Sewer Operations Fund 701,336.44 162,802.14 113,461.14 750,677.44

230 - Sanitation Fund 178,816.05 73,234.82 65,254.15 186,796.72

240 - Storm Water 65,467.12 7,856.11 295.00 73,028.23

310 - Transient Guest Tax 6,199.04 264.87 0.00 6,463.91

320 - Library Operations 7,283.22 251,445.12 257,445.52 1,282.82

330 - Special Parks 24,196.63 0.00 0.00 24,196.63

340 - Special Highway 678,199.54 56,382.32 0.00 734,581.86

350 - Infrastructure Sales Tax 568,977.63 118,655.73 0.00 687,633.36

360 - Capital Projects 1,049,612.59 133,980.09 11,306.39 1,172,286.29

410 - Fire Equipment Reserve 218,964.81 15,627.49 19,225.37 215,366.93

420 - Police Equipment Reserve 52,932.14 29,768.75 21.00 82,679.89

430 - Sewer Capital Reserve 473,449.94 60,624.00 0.00 534,073.94

440 - Water Capital Reserve 323,430.03 63,024.00 7,835.00 378,619.03

450 - Capital Reserve 915.03 0.00 0.00 915.03

500 - Debt, Bond, and Interest 208,499.86 317,590.34 109,238.18 416,852.02

930 - Debt Proceeds 0.00 1,109,240.90 994,337.50 114,903.40

940 - Gallagher Park Fund 9,183.08 0.00 0.00 9,183.08

950 - Festival/Event Fund 4,439.67 0.00 0.00 4,439.67

960 - Law Enforcement Trust 7,104.88 0.00 0.00 7,104.88

971 - RHID 1 21.82 19,865.84 0.00 19,887.66

972 - RHID 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

980 - Industrial Park Development Fund 236,742.51 0.00 5,678.07 231,064.44

981 - CDBG Urgent Need Grant Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

982 - CDBG-CV Grant 2020 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

983 - CARES CRF Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

984 - ARPA Fund 339,849.97 0.00 0.00 339,849.97

985 - MIH Grant Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

6,919,617.52 3,783,095.76 2,281,150.30 8,421,562.98Report Total:




